

1 Quantifying the effects of anomalies of temperature, precipitation, and surface water storage on
2 diarrhea risk in Taiwan

3

4 Gerry Andhikaputra¹, Ayushi Sharma¹, Amir Sapkota, PhD², Hao He, PhD³, Yu-Kai Lin, PhD⁴, Li-
5 Wen Deng¹, Yu-Chun Wang, PhD^{1,5}

6 ¹Department of Environmental Engineering, College of Engineering, Chung Yuan Christian
7 University, 200 Chung-Pei Road, Zhongli 320, Taiwan

8 ²Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, University of Maryland School of Public Health,
9 College Park, MD

10 ³ Department of Atmospheric and Oceanic Science, University of Maryland, College Park,
11 Maryland, USA

12 ⁴ Department of Health and Welfare, University of Taipei College of City Management, 101
13 Zhongcheng Road Sec. 2, Taipei 111, Taiwan

14 ⁵ Research Center for Environmental Changes, Academia Sinica, 128 Academia Road, Section 2,
15 Nankang, Taipei 11529, Taiwan

16

17 **Address correspondence and reprint requests to:**

18 *Yu-Chun Wang, PhD

19 Professor

20 Chung Yuan Christian University College of Engineering

21 200 Chung-Pei Road

22 Zhongli 320, Taiwan

23 Telephone: 886-3-265-4916; Fax: 886-3-265-4949

24 E-mail: ycwang@cycu.edu.tw; swingapple@gmail.com

25

26

27 **Keywords:** infectious diarrhea; weather anomaly; extreme weather event, climate change

28 **Number of words:** 242 in abstract and 4320 in text. This manuscript has 3 tables, 3 figures, 53

29 references, and 2 supplementary ~~2~~ tables

30

31

1 **ABSTRACT**

2 **Objectives:** Diarrheal disease continues to be a significant cause of morbidity and
3 mortality. We investigated how anomalies in monthly average temperature, precipitation,
4 and surface water storage (SWS) ~~impacts-impacted~~ bacterial, and viral diarrhea morbidity
5 in Taiwan between 2004 and 2015.

6 **Methods:** A multivariate analysis using negative binomial generalized estimating
7 equations was employed to quantify age- and cause-specific cases of diarrhea associated
8 with anomalies in temperature, precipitation, and SWS.

9 **Results:** Temperature ~~anomaly-anomalies was-were~~ associated with an elevated rate of
10 ~~all-infectious-diarrhea-all-cause-infectious-diarrhea-at-lag-2-month~~ at a lag of 2 months,
11 with the highest risk observed ~~among-in-the-under-five~~ under-5 age group (incidence rate
12 ratio [IRR]=1.03, 95% CI=1.01, 1.07). ~~Anomaly-Anomalies~~ in SWS ~~was-were~~ associated
13 with increased- viral diarrhea rates, with the highest risk observed ~~among-in-the-under-~~
14 ~~five~~ under-5 age group at a 2-month lag 2 (IRR= 1.27; 95% CI: 1.14, 1.42) ~~with-and a~~
15 lesser effect at a 1-month lag 1-month (IRR=1.18; 95% CI=1.06, 1.31). Furthermore,
16 cause-specific diarrhea diseases were significantly affected by extreme weather events
17 in Taiwan. Both extremely cold and hot conditions were associated with an increased risk
18 of ~~all-infectious-diarrhea-all-cause-infectious-diarrhea~~ regardless the-of age, with IRRs
19 ranging from 1.03 (95% CI=1.02, 1.12) to 1.18 (95% CI=1.16, 1.40).

20 **Conclusions:** The risk of ~~all-infectious-disease-all-cause-infectious-diarrhea~~ was
21 significantly associated with average temperature ~~anomaly-anomalies for-in the~~

22 population aged under five-5 years. Viral diarrhea was significantly associated with
23 anomaly of anomalies in SWS. Therefore, the study we recommends strategic planning and
24 early warning systems as major solutions to improve resilience against climate change.

Epub ahead of print

25 INTRODUCTION

26 Diarrheal diseases represent ~~a~~the ~~second~~-leading cause of mortality among children
27 in Africa and South-East Asia, accounting for 25% of ~~under-five~~under-5 mortality [1].
28 Despite significant improvements in water, sanitation, and hygiene (~~WASH~~) and rotavirus
29 vaccination, diarrhea-specific mortality continues to be a persistent issue [2], accounting
30 for 9% (0.478 million) of pediatric death globally [3]. The etiological agents ~~for~~of pediatric
31 diarrhea include bacteria, viruses, and parasites [4], with a recent study from China
32 showing bacterial pathogens as the predominant agent (32.3%) [5]. Globally, the most
33 common bacteria associated with diarrheal diseases include *Escherichia coli*, followed by
34 *Shigella*, *Salmonella*, *Campylobacter* (primarily associated with childhood diarrhea),
35 *Yersinia*, and *Clostridium* spp. [6].

36 Since warmer temperatures s can promote bacterial growth ~~while~~and increases in
37 precipitation can enhance the fecal-oral route of exposure, prior studies have suggested
38 that ongoing climate variability and change may worsen the diarrheal disease burden
39 globally [7-9]. Prior studies have revealed that extreme temperatures, excessive rainfall,
40 and drought increase the risk of infectious diseases, with significant heterogeneity
41 observed ~~between~~among different geographic regions [10-12]. A recent study from Nepal
42 found that the burden of ~~under-five~~under-5 diarrheal disease in Kathmandu was positively
43 associated with warmer temperatures s, with the monthly number of diarrheal cases
44 increasing by 8.1% per 1-°C increase in maximum temperature [13], with a considerably
45 higher risk observed during the monsoon season and La Niña periods s [14]. Likewise, a
46 study from Taiwan reported that the incidences of diarrhea ~~were~~was associated with

47 warming temperatures [15].

48 Previous studies also reported that drought can escalate the risk of infectious diseases
49 [12, 16, 17]. A study conducted in Sub-Saharan Africa observed an increased incidence of
50 cholera during drought periods [16], while others have linked longer droughts with
51 increased cholera risks [16, 18]. Interestingly, heavy rainfall events are also reported to be
52 a risk factor for diarrheal disease [10], with considerably higher risk of diarrhea when a
53 dry period is followed by heavy rainfall [11]. Others have shown floods or heavy rainfall
54 are more strongly associated with cholera outbreaks [16] and extreme bacillary dysentery
55 [19]. This highlights the importance of flooding in the spread of infectious diseases.
56 However, even within small geographic areas, flooding can be highly heterogeneous based
57 on hydrological runoff and specific elevation. ~~Recently~~ The recently developed Global
58 Flood Monitoring System (GFMS) provides estimates of surface water storage (SWS) [20]
59 that provide ans indirect assessment of high-resolution flooding data that may be useful
60 in epidemiological investigations of flooding events and the infectious disease burden.
61 SWS is an estimate of surface water depth (mm) above the land, reflecting recent flood
62 occurrences and their intensities. It includes all surface water constrained in water ~~body~~
63 bodies and overflowing to surrounding floodplains [21]. However, no studies ~~to data-date~~
64 have evaluated ~~if whether~~ SWS is associated with ~~risk of the~~ diarrheal disease burden.

65 While number studies have linked weather ~~phenomenon—phenomena~~ (daily
66 temperature, precipitation, and flooding) with burden of diarrheal disease, there is a
67 paucity of data regarding how long-term changes in such weather ~~phenomenon~~
68 phenomena impact the disease burden. To address ~~such these~~ shortcomings, increasingly

69 ~~number or many~~ epidemiological studies have begun to investigate this question using the
70 frequency of extreme weather events and weather ~~anomaly~~ anomalies as exposure
71 metrics, which are more relevant in the context of climate change [9, 22, 23]. In this study,
72 we investigated how long-term anomalies in temperatures, precipitation, and surface
73 water storage (SWS) ~~anomalies, or affected~~ cause-specific diarrhea in ~~the all~~ ages and the
74 ~~under five~~ under-5 ~~years~~ population in Taiwan using ~~123~~ years (2004-~~2015~~) of
75 surveillance data.

76

77 MATERIALS AND METHODS

78 *Study area*

79 Taiwan, a subtropical island (150 km ~~x~~ 350 km) with 23 million people [24, 25], is
80 located in one of the main paths of tropical cyclones in the western North Pacific Ocean. ~~s~~
81 ~~tropical cyclone that and~~ has been experiencing drastic impacts of climate change. The
82 ~~s~~ Southern part of Taiwan has experienced increases in minimum temperature at the rate
83 of 2.98-°C per 100 years [26, 27]. A recent study from Taiwan reported that more than
84 4,500 disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) were attributable to foodborne illnesses
85 resulting from non-typhoid *Salmonella*, ~~n~~ Norovirus, and *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* [28].

86

87 *Data sources*

88 We obtained the monthly number of emergency room and outpatient visit records
89 (2004-2015) of cause-specific diarrheal disease cases from the National Health Insurance
90 (NHI) database of the Ministry of Health and Welfare for the ~~six~~ 6 regions of Taiwan (North,

메모 포함[A1]: The endpoint of the study is described as both 2015 and 2016 in various places in the study. Would this be possible to double-check? If the reason for this inconsistency is the lag (e.g., between Dec 2015 and Feb 2016 for 2-month lags), please use the later of the two dates (i.e., describe this as 2016).

메모 포함[A2R1]: Thank you for bringing this issues, after first revision we changed the study period to 2015 according to reviewer's suggestion. Thus, the correct study period is 2004 to 2015. In addition, we have replaced the endpoint of the study period to 2016 throughout the manuscript.

91 Chumiao, Central, Yunchianan, Kaoping, and Huatung) (Figure 1). ~~The~~ NHI provides ~~equal~~
92 ~~equal~~-access health care in Taiwan and covers more than 99% of Taiwan's population [29].
93 The overall identification numbers were replaced by surrogate numbers to protect
94 patients' privacy. This study used the ~~9th and 10th Revision~~ ~~ninth and 10th revisions~~ of the International
95 Classification of Diseases ~~codes~~ ~~(ICD-9)~~ and ~~(ICD-10)~~ ~~codes~~ to identify diarrheal disease cases.
96 These included bacterial cases ~~{(V. cholera, Salmonella spp., E. coli, C~~~~ampylobacter~~
97 ~~enteritis, Yersinia enterocolitica, Clostridium difficile, and other bacteria~~ ~~{(ICD-9: 001, 003,~~
98 ~~008 and ICD-10: A00, A02, A04)}~~ ~~},~~ ~~virus-viral~~ cases ~~{(R~~ ~~(rotavirus, a~~ ~~Adenovirus, and Norwalk virus~~
99 ~~{(ICD-9: 8.61-63 and ICD-10: A08.0, A08.2, A08.1)}~~ ~~),~~ and all other infectious diarrheal cases
100 ~~{(ICD-9: 001-009 and ICD-10: A00-09)}~~ ~~}).~~ The study was approved by institutional review
101 board (IRB) at the Chung Yuan Christian University and University of Maryland.

102 We obtained weather data from the Taiwan Central Weather Bureau, including
103 average temperature (°C) and precipitation (mm) for 18 weather stations located in ~~six~~
104 ~~the 6~~ regions of Taiwan for the same period (Figure 1). Weather data ~~was~~ ~~were~~ aggregated
105 from hourly resolution to monthly resolution for the analysis to match the temporal
106 resolution of the outcome measures. Likewise, we extracted SWS data from the Global
107 Flood Monitoring System (GFMS), ~~which is freely~~ available ~~freely~~ from ~~the~~ University of
108 Maryland (<http://flood.umd.edu/>). The population data for each locations stratified by
109 age group ~~were~~ ~~was~~ retrieved from National Statistics, Republic of China ~~(R.O.C), that~~
110 ~~which~~ provides open access to the yearly population. Further detailed information about
111 population data is available on ~~their~~ ~~its~~ official portal (<https://eng.stat.gov.tw/>).

112 ~~Anomaly~~ ~~Anomalies~~ in weather variables

113 To evaluate the effect of changing climate on infectious diarrheal disease, we
114 adopted anomalies in weather variables as the exposure metric, since they reflect
115 changes in the historical context (climate) rather than direct measurements of weather
116 variables. More specifically, we decided to focus on long-term monthly ~~anomaly~~
117 anomalies instead of weekly or daily variability. We aggregated weather data and health
118 outcomes ~~to onto a~~ monthly temporal scale, since we believe that a monthly scale ~~will~~
119 would shows distinct patterns of ~~the~~ anomalies compared to a daily or weekly scale. To
120 achieve this, we first calculated a 30-year baseline (1980-2010) to ~~calculate obtain a~~ long-
121 term monthly average for each calendar month specific to each of the ~~six 6~~ regions. We
122 then calculated the ~~anomaly anomalies~~ for our study period (2004-2015~~6~~) by subtracting
123 the monthly mean weather data from their respective long-term averages.

124 **Statistical aAnalysis**

125 We used a multivariate generalized estimating equation (GEE) model with negative
126 binomial regression [30] to examine the association between anomalies of +1-°C
127 temperature, +1 mm precipitation, and +1 mm SWS and monthly cause-specific diarrheal
128 disease cases. The following model ~~is was~~ considered:

$$129 \quad \mathbf{Log}[Y] \sim (\mathbf{temperature, lag}) + (\mathbf{precipitation, lag}) + (\mathbf{SWS, lag}) + (\mathbf{season})$$
$$130 \quad \quad \quad + (\mathbf{time}) + \mathbf{Lunar New Year event} + \mathbf{offset(population)}$$

131 The study also included the effect of seasonality and Lunar New Year events in the
132 model. ~~The p~~Population statistics were included in the model as an offset variable. Based
133 on the hydrological cycle, the seasons in Taiwan are classified into ~~five 5~~: winter

메모 포함[A3]: This was added to enhance understanding among EPIH's international readership, per sources like https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/East_Asian_rainy_season.

메모 포함[A4R3]: Thank you, confirmed

서식 있음: 글꼴: 기움임꼴

134 (December- January), spring (March–April), ~~mei-yu~~ (East Asian rainy season) (May–June),
135 typhoon (July–August), and autumn (September- November) [31]. We created a binary
136 variable to indicate Lunar New Year events by labeling months with a Lunar New Year
137 event as “1” and put it as a predictor in the model. We included d lag structures of up to
138 ~~two~~ 2 months (0-2 months) to capture the delayed effect of the predictors on the disease
139 rates. The risks ~~from-in~~ statistical analyses were reported as incidence rate ratios (IRRs)
140 with 95% confidence interval (95% CIs) and interpreted as showing the risk for every 1-
141 unit increase ~~of-in~~ the weather anomaly variables. The IRR has been widely used in
142 epidemiological ~~fieldy~~ to report whether the exposure to dependent variables can
143 increase or decrease the risk of ~~some-the~~ incidence of various conditions [14, 32].

144 ~~In addition, we~~ We also categorized the predictor variables into ~~five~~ 5 groups based
145 on their percentile distribution and used the normal category as the reference group for
146 the analysis. For example, average temperature ~~anomaly anomalies was were~~ categorized as extremely
147 cold (<5th), cold (≥5th – <30th), normal (≥30th – ≤70th), hot (>70th – ≤95th), and extremely
148 hot temperature (>95th). The categorization for precipitation and SWS followed suit. The
149 ~~Detailed-detailed~~ classification ~~can be seen is presented~~ in Supplementary Table 1. We used exchangeable
150 correlations and clustered the data based on ~~six-the~~ 6 regions in Taiwan. We tested several
151 model combinations, which included univariate, multivariate, and model with interaction
152 effects, and selected a model based on ~~the lower-lowest Quasi-quasi-~~information criterion (QIC).

153

154 RESULTS

155 *Descriptive statistics*

156 A total of over ~~ten~~10 million diarrheal disease cases were reported from 2004 to 2015
157 in Taiwan (Table 1). The monthly average incidence rate per 100,000 population was 254
158 for all infectious diarrhea, 25 for bacterial diarrhea, and 5 for viral diarrhea. The monthly
159 trends of cause-specific diarrhea cases by age from 2004 to 2016~~5~~ are illustrated in Figure
160 2. An upward trend was observed for ~~all infectious diarrhea~~ all-cause infectious diarrhea cases, while bacterial
161 and viral diarrhea cases showed downward trends.

162 The monthly average temperature during the study period was 23.24°C across the
163 ~~six~~6 regions of Taiwan. The monthly mean values for precipitation and SWS were 178.24
164 mm and 1.11 mm, respectively. ~~The temperature~~Temperature ranged from 14.8°C to
165 20.7°C during the cold months (December to February) and 26.5°C to 29.5°C during the
166 hot months (June to August) (Figure 3). The precipitation and SWS showed similar trends
167 with the highest values of 662.7 mm and 4.2 mm, respectively, from June to September.
168 The mean monthly average temperature, precipitation, and SWS, as well as their
169 respective ~~anomaly~~ anomalies, ~~is~~ are presented in Table 1, while their temporal trends ~~is~~
170 are depicted in Figure 3.

171 ***Association between cause-specific diarrhea and weather anomalies***

172 ~~Results~~The results from ~~the~~ univariate analysis ~~depicted~~ of the associations
173 between ~~anomaly~~ anomalies in temperature, precipitation, and SWS and the risk of
174 diarrheal disease ~~is~~ are depicted in Supplementary Table 2. The associations between
175 diarrheal disease rates and ~~one unit~~ 1-unit increases in temperature precipitation, and
176 SWS anomalies in Taiwan ~~is~~ are presented in Table 2. A +1-°C ~~in~~ anomaly in average
177 temperature (~~lag~~ 2-month lag) was associated with an increased risk of infectious

178 diarrhea among all age groups (incident rate ratio (IRR) = 1.03, 95% confidence interval (95% CI), 1.01-1.05) as well
179 as among under-five in the under-5 age groups (IRR = 1.03, 95% CI, 1.01-1.07). Similar association was
180 observed for bacterial diarrhea among under-five in the under-5 age group at lags of 1 and 2 months
181 (IRR = 1.04, 95% CI, 1.01-1.07 for both), but not for viral diarrhea. However,
182 this study found there was no association was found between a +1 mm anomaly in
183 precipitation and infectious diarrhea in Taiwan. Interestingly, a +1 mm in-anomaly in SWS
184 was consistently associated with an increased risk of viral diarrhea, irrespective of the lag
185 structure. For example, increases in viral diarrhea among under-five in the under-5 age
186 group ranged from 12% (IRR = 1.12, 95% CI, 1.01-1.25) at lag 0 to 27% at at
187 lag 2 months lag of 2 months (IRR = 1.27, 95% CI, 1.14, 1.42), and while the
188 corresponding values among all the entire population ranged from 15% (IRR = 1.15,
189 95% CI, 1.03-1.28) to 22% (IRR = 1.15, 95% CI, 1.09-1.36) at at lag 2
190 months lag of 2 months. -This study did not found-find any significant effects between
191 anomaly-anomalies in SWS and all-infectious-all-cause infectious diarrhea and-or bacterial
192 diarrhea. We also tested for interactions between SWS and temperature/precipitation
193 anomaly-anomalies and observed evidence of a limited interaction (Supplementary Table
194 4). However, we found positive interactions in the association between temperature and
195 SWS on the risk of all-infectious-diarrhea-all-cause infectious diarrhea among all age
196 groups at lag 0 (IRR = 1.08, 95% CI, 1.03-1.14). Detailed results can be seen
197 in Supplementary Table 4.

198 Association between cause-specific diarrhea and extreme weather events

메모 포함[A5]: Please note this clarification, which was made according to the tables. Otherwise, it would sound like one data point is being presented for two lag periods.

메모 포함[A6R5]: Thank you, confirmed

199 Table 3 shows the associations between exposure to various categories of
200 anomalies and the risk of diarrheal disease. Exposure to extreme cold was associated with
201 increases in diarrheal disease risk among-in all -age groups by a-11% (~~IRR=~~IRR=1.11,~~95%~~
202 ~~CI-;~~ 95% CI, 1.03,-1.19) and in the under-fiveunder-5 group by 15% (~~IRR=~~IRR=1.15,~~95%~~
203 ~~CI-;~~ 95% CI, 1.07, 1.24). Likewise, extreme cold was associated with an increased viral
204 diarrhea rate among-under fivein the under-5 age group (~~IRR=~~IRR=1.31,~~95% CI-;~~ 95% CI,
205 1.01,-1.70). ~~This study observed e~~Exposure to cold elevated the risk of bacterial diarrhea
206 among-in all -age groups by 9% (~~IRR=~~IRR=1.09,~~95% CI-;~~ 95% CI, 1.01,-1.18) and in the
207 under-fiveunder-5 group by 6% (~~IRR=~~IRR=1.06,~~95% CI-;~~ 95% CI, 1.01,-1.13). Likewise, ~~hot~~
208 heat and extreme ~~hot-heat was-were~~ associated with elevated rates of all infectious
209 diarrhea, but the results were no longer significant when the analysis was further broken
210 down into bacterial and viral diarrhea. Exposure to hotter conditions was associated with
211 increases in diarrheal risk among all -age groups (~~IRR=~~IRR=1.03; 95% CI:-, 1.02,-1.13) and
212 in the under-fiveunder-5 group (~~IRR=~~IRR=1.03; 95% CI: 1.02,-1.12). Extreme ~~hot-heat~~
213 increased the risk of all-infectious-diarrhea-all-cause-infectious-diarrhea-amongin the
214 under-fiveunder-5 age group (~~IRR=~~IRR=1.18; 95% CI:-, 1.16,-1.40) and in all ages
215 population (~~IRR=~~IRR=1.08; 95% CI:-, 1.04,-1.25).

216 This study did not ~~found-find~~ any significant positive association between extreme
217 anomaly precipitation events and all-infectious-diarrhea-all-cause-infectious-diarrhea-in
218 our-study-group (Table 3). However, we observed a significant protective effect of wet
219 conditions on viral diarrhea among-in the under-fiveunder-5 age group by 18% (~~IRR=~~
220 ~~IRR=~~IRR=0.82,~~95% CI-;~~ 95% CI, 0.70,-0.95). Likewise, we did not observe a positive association

221 of extreme anomaly SWS events on ~~all infectious diarrhea~~ all-cause infectious diarrhea in this study. We found
222 that extremely dry conditions ~~was were~~ associated with all infectious and viral diarrhea among
223 all ~~studied study~~ groups, with the highest reduction of 47% (~~IRR: IRR=0.53, 95% CI: 0.39, 0.73~~) on viral
224 diarrhea ~~among in~~ all age ~~groups group~~. We also observed a significant protective effect of drier
225 conditions on viral diarrhea among all ~~studied group,~~ with the

226 We also observed a strong positive association between viral diarrhea and Lunar
227 New Year events, with risk ranging from 38% for all age groups (~~IRR: IRR=1.38, 95% CI: 1.11, 1.70~~)
228 95% CI, 1.11, 1.70) to 33% for ~~the under five under-5~~ age group (~~IRR: IRR=1.33, 95% CI: 1.07, 1.65~~),
229 1.07, 1.65, respectively. In ~~the~~ seasonal analysis, except for a significant increase in the
230 risk of bacterial diarrhea ~~for in the under five under-5~~ age group during ~~the~~ typhoon
231 season (~~IRR: IRR=1.12, 95% CI: 1.03, 1.22~~), the risk of all studied diseases
232 gradually decreased ~~ds~~ from winter to ~~the~~ typhoon season. Viral diarrhea showed the
233 highest risk of cases during the winter season for both ~~the~~ all-age and ~~under five under-5~~
234 age groups (~~IRR: IRR=2.06, 95% CI: 1.70, 2.51~~; and ~~IRR: IRR=1.61, 95% CI: 1.32, 1.95~~, respectively).

메모 포함[A7]: The original paragraph here ended with a fragment expressing an incomplete thought ("with the..."). That was deleted for grammatical purposes, but if you did want to express some more information, please revise to do so.

메모 포함[A8R7]: Thank you for clarifying this with us. We have made sure there is no further information that wanted to be added.

236 **DISCUSSION**

237 This is the first population-based study to evaluate the associations between
238 ~~population-based~~ all infectious and cause-specific diarrhea and climatic factors, including
239 anomalies in temperature, precipitation, and SWS along with seasons. Our study
240 identified ~~the an~~ association between a +1°C ~~anomaly of anomaly in~~ temperature and all
241 infectious diarrhea, although some of the associations were no longer significant when
242 the analysis ~~were was~~ stratified by viral and bacterial diarrhea. ~~On the other~~
243 ~~hand~~ Furthermore, viral diarrhea was significantly associated with a +1 mm SWS anomaly.
244 As we defined the weather variables by percentile, both extreme cold and extreme ~~hot~~
245 heat increased the risk of ~~all infectious diarrhea all-cause infectious diarrhea~~ in Taiwan.
246 However, extremely dry and drier conditions were associated with ~~the a~~ decreased risk
247 of viral diarrhea. Interestingly, our study also identified the culturally important Lunar
248 New Year event, which that happens during the winter ~~season~~ in Taiwan, as an important
249 risk factor for infectious diarrhea.

250 This study identified a positive association between average temperature ~~anomaly~~
251 anomalies and ~~all infectious diarrhea all-cause infectious diarrhea~~ in Taiwan ~~at lag 2~~
252 ~~month~~ at a lag of 2 months (Table 2). In addition, analyses based on threshold showed
253 that hot and extremely hot conditions affected the risk of all infectious diarrhea. These
254 findings are similar to those of a recent study that showed a 2.68% increase in outpatient
255 visits for diarrhea in Shanghai for a 1°C increase in temperature [33]. Others have
256 reported that higher ~~temperature~~ temperature can increase the risk of infectious
257 diarrhea, potentially due to increases in the consumption of uncooked meat or spoiled

258 food and can ~~fasten-hasten the~~ bacterial growth [9, 33, 34]. A Korean study reported
259 higher temperatures to be associated with Salmonellosis and ~~C~~Campylobacteriosis [34].
260 We also observed ~~that anomalous~~ extremely cold ~~anomaly~~ conditions, when ~~the~~
261 temperature ~~is-was~~ 2.59-°C ~~or more~~ below the average temperature, affected the risk of
262 ~~all infectious diarrhea-all-cause infectious diarrhea~~ and viral diarrhea. These findings are
263 consistent with a recent study that reported associations between cold temperature and
264 diarrhea in Taiwan, Hong Kong, and Japan [35]. A meta-analysis ~~study~~ also reported a
265 higher risk of viral diarrhea in colder temperature rather than hot temperatures [36]. Thus,
266 ~~an~~ appropriate approach to address the risk of infectious diarrhea when ~~the~~ temperature
267 is colder or warmer than the average values should be proposed accordingly.

268 We found there ~~is-were~~ no apparent effects of ~~anomaly~~ precipitation ~~anomalies~~ on
269 the risk of infectious diarrhea in Taiwan. Our results ~~is-are~~ in contrast with a study
270 conducted in Bangladesh that found a positive association between precipitation and
271 reported typhoid cases at lags ~~of~~ 0-3 weeks, with 45% of total cases recorded during the
272 monsoon period [37]. Prior studies ~~have~~ claimed that higher precipitation is ~~surely~~
273 associated with an increased risk of pathogens transmission through the drinking water
274 system [38]. ~~The-i~~ increased turbidity and pathogen loads in the surface water are
275 inevitable during the rainy season with higher precipitation due to overland runoff [39].
276 Conversely, our results showed a protective effect of higher ~~precipitation anomaly~~
277 ~~anomalies precipitation~~ for viral diarrhea. Previous studies have shown that ~~the~~ peak
278 rainfall in Taiwan is observed from summer until fall, caused by the southwesterly
279 monsoon flow that often bring ~~the~~ typhoons along with the heavy rainfall [40, 41]. Thus,

280 the high precipitation during summertime might not be a favorable environments for viral
281 diarrhea transmission in Taiwan. In addition, ~~the increased of~~ precipitation could lead to
282 pathogen dilution and decrease the risk [42]. Further analysis should be carried out in the
283 future to ~~unravel-untangle~~ the nebulous association between ~~the increment of~~
284 precipitation increments and diarrhea risk in different regions.

285 This study utilized SWS to represent all surface water, ~~that include~~including both
286 water constrained in water ~~body-bodies~~ and water overflowing onto the surrounding
287 plains [21]. GFMS provides ~~this-these~~ data ~~to~~ as the estimation of surface water depth
288 (mm) above the land, which reflects recent flooding [20], and thus the risk of diarrhea. Our
289 results indicated that ~~the a 1-unit increase~~increased in SWS ~~will~~ elevated the risk of viral
290 diarrhea. A recent study from Bangladesh ~~study showed that~~ higher frequencies of both
291 cholera and non-cholera diarrhea ~~was higher~~ during ~~the~~ flood periods [43]. Interestingly,
292 this study found a protective effect of SWS when we broke down the analysis in ~~to~~
293 categorical variables of ~~anomaly~~ SWS anomalies. This might be related to the sanitation
294 conditions in Taiwan. A study in Taiwan revealed that local inhabitants have good water
295 management, water literacy awareness, and behavior, ~~and as well as~~ proper knowledge
296 regarding ~~to~~ drinking water safety and hygiene [44].

297 A prior study from Taiwan reported that the incidence of rotavirus infections had
298 an epidemic peak in cooler months between January ~~to and~~ March, ~~that~~ supporting our
299 findings [45]. The Taiwan CDC Centers for Disease Control reported ~~there were that~~ viral
300 gastroenteritis outbreaks were recorded in the emergency department during the Lunar
301 New Year holiday in 2015, with the majority of cases ~~were being~~ caused by rRotavirus and

302 norovirus (previously known as Norwalk virus) [46]. Due to family or friends gathering
303 during the Lunar New Year event, the chances of transmission may increase [47], ~~this is~~
304 ~~in corroboration with~~ which corroborates our findings of the highest incidence of viral
305 diarrhea during the Lunar New Year in Taiwan. The increase in the risk of infectious
306 diarrhea during the winter season and Lunar New Year ~~can be the~~ might also result ~~of from~~
307 a decrease in temperature, which can enhance the replication and survival of ~~the~~
308 diarrheal viruses es [33]. Moreover, there are social and behavioral aspects of vulnerability
309 to cold temperatures, as colder temperatures may alter the hygiene behavior among the
310 population, leading to higher transmission of pathogens [48].

311 There are several strengths of this study, including its long temporal coverage
312 (2004-2015) and comprehensive cause-specific outcome measure. This is the first study
313 to link ~~surface water storage~~ SWS with an increased diarrhea burden. This study
314 successfully investigated associations between SWS/weather anomalies ~~with and~~ cause-
315 specific infectious diarrhea, which is more relevant in the context of climate change, using
316 ~~NBR~~ a negative binomial regression GEE model. Future studies incorporating other
317 statistical modelling techniques, including a distributed lag non-linear model
318 ~~(DLNM)~~ DLNM, will furnish enriched epidemiological evidence linking cause-specific
319 diarrheal disease and these novel climate change exposure metrics. ~~There are noted~~ Some
320 limitations are noted as well. First, we did not control for ~~the~~ confounding factors, such
321 as socio-demographic details, as ~~these~~ this individual-level ~~individual level~~ information
322 ~~were was~~ not available. Second, we used a monthly temporal scale. Furthermore, the
323 majority of the outpatient infectious diarrheal disease cases ~~were~~ belonged to all

324 ~~infectious diarrhea all-cause infectious diarrhea~~ because clinical laboratory tests of the
325 causative pathogen ~~was-were~~ not performed in outpatient ~~visit~~ departments most of the
326 time, as stool testing for pathogens is done only ~~when the for patients suffering patients~~
327 ~~suffer~~ from severe or moderate diarrhea. Despite these limitations, this study provides an
328 in-depth assessment of ~~the~~ vulnerability, which varied by age and ~~cause-specific the cause~~
329 of diarrhea, including all infectious diarrhea, bacterial diarrhea, and viral diarrhea. The
330 findings of the study can help in the development of appropriate mitigation strategies for
331 infectious disease consequences under climate-change scenarios. Since extreme weather
332 events are projected to increase despite mitigation efforts, we argue that data like ours
333 should be used to develop location-specific early warning systems that can help
334 communities adapt to the threats of climate change [49].

335

336 **Conclusion**

337 We investigated the associations between ~~anomaly-anomalies~~ in meteorological
338 conditions and infectious diarrhea in Taiwan. Our findings suggest that ~~the anomalies~~ in
339 SWS ~~is-are~~ significantly associated with ~~the~~ diarrhea burden in Taiwan, particularly for
340 viral diarrhea. Moreover, extreme ~~hot-heat~~-related infectious diarrhea was most
341 pronounced ~~among-in the under-five-under-5~~ age group, while extremely cold months ~~also~~
342 ~~will-elevated~~ the risk of viral diarrhea ~~among-in this under-five~~ age group. The winter
343 season and Lunar New Year also increased the risk of ~~all-infectious-diarrhea-all-cause~~
344 ~~infectious diarrhea~~ and viral diarrhea, regardless of the age group. ~~Given-Since~~ diarrheal
345 disease continues to be a major cause of morbidity and mortality among young children,
346 and climate change ~~related-is leading to~~ increases in extreme weather events,
347 coordinated efforts are needed to enhance preparedness and management of diarrheal
348 diseases.

349

350 **Acknowledgement:** We would like to thank the Ministry of Health and Welfare,
351 Environmental Protection Administration (EPA) and the Central Weather Bureau,
352 Executive Yuan for providing research data. We also would like to thank ~~The~~the Ministry
353 of Science and Technology, Taiwan (MOST) and National Science Foundation for providing
354 ~~the~~ support and funding. These Interpretations and conclusions herein do not represent
355 the views of these agencies. The views or opinions expressed in this article are those of
356 the writers and should not be construed as opinions of the Taiwan EPA and MOST.
357 Mention of trade names, vendor names, or commercial products does not constitute
358 endorsement or recommendation by Taiwan EPA and MOST.

359 **Financial Support:** This study was supported by grants from the Taiwan Ministry of
360 Science and Technology (MOST 108-2625-M-033-002-; MOST 109-2625-M-033-002-;
361 MOST 109-2621-M-033 -001 -MY3; MOST 110-2625-M-033-002--). Additional support
362 grants from the National Science Foundation through Belmont Forum (Award Number
363 (FAIN): 2025470) are also acknowledged.

364 **Conflict of Interest:** None

365 **Ethics approval and consent to participate:** All methods were carried out in accordance
366 with relevant guidelines and all protocols were approved by Taiwan National Health
367 Research Institutes (code: EC1090703-F-E).

368 **Availability of Data and Materials:** Data not available due to [ethical/legal/commercial]
369 restrictions.

메모 포함[A9]: Please help us to incorporate funding for this study. Thank you and sorry for the inconvenience

메모 포함[A10]: This is a template phrase giving three options. Please specify which of these three reasons applies here.

메모 포함[A11R10]: Thank you for confirming this with us. The data is not available due to legal restrictions.

370 **Author contributions and consent for publication:** G.A., A.S._z and Y.C.W
371 Conceptualization; Y.C.W, G.A., and Y.K.L. Writing - Original Draft; H.H, L.W.D._z and Y.C.W
372 Formal analysis; and Y.C.W, Ay.S. , A.S._z and G.A. Writing – Review & Editing. All authors
373 read and approved the final version of the manuscript for the publication.

374

375

Epub ahead of print

376 **References**

- 377 1. Mokomane, M., et al., *The global problem of childhood diarrhoeal diseases: emerging*
378 *strategies in prevention and management*. Ther Adv Infect Dis, 2018. **5**(1): p. 29-43.
- 379 2. Troeger, C., et al., *Estimates of the global, regional, and national morbidity, mortality,*
380 *and aetiologies of diarrhoea in 195 countries: a systematic analysis for the Global*
381 *Burden of Disease Study 2016*. The Lancet Infectious Diseases, 2018. **18**(11): p. 1211-
382 1228.
- 383 3. Liu, L., et al., *Global, regional, and national causes of child mortality in 2000–13, with*
384 *projections to inform post-2015 priorities: an updated systematic analysis*. The Lancet,
385 2015. **385**(9966): p. 430-440.
- 386 4. Chang, H., et al., *Aetiology of acute diarrhoea in children in Shanghai, 2015–2018*. PLOS
387 ONE, 2021. **16**(4): p. e0249888.
- 388 5. Shen, H., et al., *The 12 Gastrointestinal Pathogens Spectrum of Acute Infectious Diarrhea*
389 *in a Sentinel Hospital, Shenzhen, China*. Frontiers in Microbiology, 2016. **7**(1926).
- 390 6. Akhondi, H. and K.A. Simonsen, *Bacterial Diarrhea*, in *In: StatPearls [Internet]*. 2020:
391 Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing.
- 392 7. World Health Organization, *COP24 Special Report: Health & Climate Change*. 2018.
- 393 8. The Lancet. *The Lancet: Climate change already damaging health of world's children and*
394 *threatens lifelong impact*. 2019 [cited 2020 August 11]; Available from:
395 https://www.eurekalert.org/pub_releases/2019-11/tl-pss111119.php.
- 396 9. Jiang, C., et al., *Climate change, extreme events and increased risk of salmonellosis in*
397 *Maryland, USA: Evidence for coastal vulnerability*. Environ Int, 2015. **83**: p. 58-62.
- 398 10. Mertens, A., et al., *Associations between High Temperature, Heavy Rainfall, and*
399 *Diarrhea among Young Children in Rural Tamil Nadu, India: A Prospective Cohort Study*.
400 Environ Health Perspect, 2019. **127**(4): p. 47004.
- 401 11. Carlton, E.J., et al., *Heavy rainfall events and diarrhea incidence: the role of social and*
402 *environmental factors*. Am J Epidemiol, 2014. **179**(3): p. 344-52.
- 403 12. Lowe, R., et al., *Nonlinear and delayed impacts of climate on dengue risk in Barbados: A*
404 *modelling study*. PLoS Med, 2018. **15**(7): p. e1002613.
- 405 13. Bhandari, D., et al., *Assessing the effect of climate factors on childhood diarrhoea burden*
406 *in Kathmandu, Nepal*. Int J Hyg Environ Health, 2020. **223**(1): p. 199-206.
- 407 14. Adams, N., et al., *El Niño Southern Oscillation, Monsoon Anomaly and Childhood*
408 *Diarrheal Disease Morbidity in Nepal*. PNAS Nexus, 2022.
- 409 15. Chou, W.C., et al., *Modeling the impact of climate variability on diarrhea-associated*
410 *diseases in Taiwan (1996-2007)*. Sci Total Environ, 2010. **409**(1): p. 43-51.
- 411 16. Rieckmann, A., et al., *Exploring Droughts and Floods and Their Association with Cholera*
412 *Outbreaks in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Register-Based Ecological Study from 1990 to 2010*.
413 Am J Trop Med Hyg, 2018. **98**(5): p. 1269-1274.
- 414 17. Fang, X., et al., *Epidemiology of infectious diarrhoea and the relationship with etiological*
415 *and meteorological factors in Jiangsu Province, China*. Sci Rep, 2019. **9**(1): p. 19571.
- 416 18. Gina, E.C.C., K. Ilan, and A.M. Kris, *Drought-related cholera outbreaks in Africa and the*
417 *implications for climate change: a narrative review*. Pathogens and Global Health, 2021.
418 **0**(0): p. 1-10.
- 419 19. Chen, M.J., et al., *Effects of extreme precipitation to the distribution of infectious*
420 *diseases in Taiwan, 1994-2008*. PLoS One, 2012. **7**(6): p. e34651.

- 421 20. Wu, H., et al., *Evaluation of real-time global flood modeling with satellite surface*
422 *inundation observations from SMAP*. Remote Sensing of Environment, 2019. **233**: p.
423 111360.
- 424 21. Wu, H., et al., *Real-time global flood estimation using satellite-based precipitation and a*
425 *coupled land surface and routing model*. Water Resources Research, 2014. **50**(3): p.
426 2693-2717.
- 427 22. Xue, T., et al., *Quantifying the contribution of temperature anomaly to stroke risk in*
428 *China*. Environmental Research Letters, 2020. **15**: p. 105014.
- 429 23. Parks, R.M., et al., *Anomalously warm temperatures are associated with increased injury*
430 *deaths*. Nature Medicine, 2020. **26**(1): p. 65-70.
- 431 24. Dept. of Household Registration, M.o.t.l.R.o.C.T. *Statistics*. 2020 [cited 2021 15
432 February]; Available from: <https://www.ris.gov.tw/app/en/3910>.
- 433 25. Lee, S. and D. Tseng, *Review and perspective of expressway tunnels in Taiwan, China*.
434 *Journal of Rock Mechanics and Geotechnical Engineering*, 2011. **3**: p. 385-397.
- 435 26. Chang, C.-P., Y.-T. Yang, and H.-C. Kuo, *Large Increasing Trend of Tropical Cyclone*
436 *Rainfall in Taiwan and the Roles of Terrain*. Journal of Climate, 2013. **26**(12): p. 4138-
437 4147.
- 438 27. Lai, L.-W. and W.-L. Cheng, *Air temperature change due to human activities in Taiwan for*
439 *the past century*. International Journal of Climatology, 2010. **30**(3): p. 432-444.
- 440 28. Lai, Y.-H., et al., *Disease burden from foodborne illnesses in Taiwan, 2012–2015*. Journal
441 of the Formosan Medical Association, 2020. **119**(9): p. 1372-1381.
- 442 29. Hsieh, F.I. and H.Y. Chiou, *Stroke: morbidity, risk factors, and care in taiwan*. J Stroke,
443 2014. **16**(2): p. 59-64.
- 444 30. Byers, A.L., et al., *Application of negative binomial modeling for discrete outcomes: A*
445 *case study in aging research*. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology, 2003. **56**(6): p. 559-564.
- 446 31. Wang, S.-T., H. Cheng, and Y.-K. Chao, *Natural seasons of the weather in the Taiwan*
447 *area (in Chinese with English abstract)*. 1984. p. 101-120.
- 448 32. Hoffmann, K., et al., *A Statistical Test for the Equality of Differently Adjusted Incidence*
449 *Rate Ratios*. American Journal of Epidemiology, 2008. **167**(5): p. 517-522.
- 450 33. Zhou, X., et al., *High temperature as a risk factor for infectious diarrhea in Shanghai,*
451 *China*. Journal of epidemiology, 2013. **23**(6): p. 418-423.
- 452 34. Sung, J., et al., *Pathogen-specific response of infectious gastroenteritis to ambient*
453 *temperature: National surveillance data in the Republic of Korea, 2015–2019*.
454 *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 2022. **240**: p. 113924.
- 455 35. Chen, C.-C., et al., *The Association between Ambient Temperature and Acute Diarrhea*
456 *Incidence in Hong Kong, Taiwan, and Japan*. Sustainability, 2018. **10**(5): p. 1417.
- 457 36. Carlton, E.J., et al., *A systematic review and meta-analysis of ambient temperature and*
458 *diarrhoeal diseases*. International Journal of Epidemiology, 2015. **45**(1): p. 117-130.
- 459 37. Dewan, A.M., et al., *Typhoid Fever and Its Association with Environmental Factors in the*
460 *Dhaka Metropolitan Area of Bangladesh: A Spatial and Time-Series Approach*. PLOS
461 *Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 2013. **7**(1): p. e1998.
- 462 38. Chhetri, B.K., et al., *Associations between extreme precipitation and acute gastro-*
463 *intestinal illness due to cryptosporidiosis and giardiasis in an urban Canadian drinking*
464 *water system (1997–2009)*. Journal of Water and Health, 2017. **15**(6): p. 898-907.
- 465 39. Galway, L.P., et al., *Hydroclimatic variables and acute gastro-intestinal illness in British*
466 *Columbia, Canada: A time series analysis*. Water Resources Research, 2015. **51**(2): p.
467 885-895.

- 468 40. Kuo, Y.-C., M.-A. Lee, and M.-M. Lu, *Association of Taiwan's Rainfall Patterns with Large-*
469 *Scale Oceanic and Atmospheric Phenomena*. *Advances in Meteorology*, 2016. **2016**: p.
470 3102895.
- 471 41. Chen, G.T.-J., *Mesoscale Features Observed in the Taiwan Mei-Yu Season*. *Journal of the*
472 *Meteorological Society of Japan*. Ser. II, 1992. **70**(1B): p. 497-516.
- 473 42. Kraay, A.N.M., et al., *Understanding the Impact of Rainfall on Diarrhea: Testing the*
474 *Concentration-Dilution Hypothesis Using a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis*.
475 *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 2020. **128**(12): p. 126001.
- 476 43. Hashizume, M., et al., *Factors determining vulnerability to diarrhoea during and after*
477 *severe floods in Bangladesh*. *Journal of Water and Health*, 2008. **6**(3): p. 323-332.
- 478 44. Yu, J.-H., et al., *Measures to Cope with the Impact of Climate Change and Drought in the*
479 *Island Region: A Study of the Water Literacy Awareness, Attitude, and Behavior of the*
480 *Taiwanese Public*. *Water*, 2021. **13**(13): p. 1799.
- 481 45. Wei-Te, L., et al., *Salmonella/rotavirus coinfection in hospitalized children*. *The*
482 *Kaohsiung Journal of Medical Sciences*, 2012. **28**(11): p. 595-600.
- 483 46. Taiwan Centers for Disease Control. *This year's viral gastroenteritis activity highest in 4*
484 *years; As long weekend approaches, public urged to pay attention to personal hygiene to*
485 *ensure their health and health of others*. 2015 [cited 2022 February]; Available from:
486 <https://www.cdc.gov.tw/En/Bulletin/Detail/82YfTeXRr1MgY9WyDPMi7A?typeid=158>.
- 487 47. Lee, I.-C. *Hand washing urged as diarrhea cases increase*. 2021 [cited 2021 October];
488 Available from:
489 <https://www.taipeitimes.com/News/taiwan/archives/2021/03/03/2003753149>.
- 490 48. Xu, Z., et al., *Assessment of the temperature effect on childhood diarrhea using satellite*
491 *imagery*. *Scientific Reports*, 2014. **4**(1): p. 5389.
- 492 49. Guo, Y., et al., *Global variation in the effects of ambient temperature on mortality: a*
493 *systematic evaluation*. *Epidemiology*, 2014. **25**(6): p. 781-9.

494

495

496 Figures Legend

497 Figure 1. Distribution of weather observatories and age-specific log population across six
498 regions in Taiwan

499 Figure 2. Age-specific trends of monthly all-cause infectious, bacterial, and viral diarrhea
500 cases from 2004 to 2016 in Taiwan

501 Figure 3. Monthly observations and anomalies of temperature, precipitation, and
502 surface water storage from 2004 to 2016 in Taiwan

503

Epub ahead of print

504 Table Legend

505 Table 1. Descriptive statistics of diarrhea cases for all ages and ~~ages~~ under 5, and
506 observations and anomalies of weather variables in Taiwan from 2004 to 201~~5~~6

507 Table 2. Age- ~~and cause-cause~~-specific ~~incidence~~ rate ratios (95% confidence intervals) of
508 diarrhea associated with ~~anomaly~~ anomalies (adjusted ~~with-for~~ each other) in Taiwan
509 from 2004 to 201~~5~~6

510 Table 3. Age- ~~and cause-cause~~-specific ~~incident~~ incidence rate ratios (95% confidence
511 intervals) of diarrhea associated with ~~classified~~ classifications of extreme weather
512 ~~environment~~ conditions in Taiwan from 2004 to 201~~6~~5

513

Epub ahead of print

514 Table 1. Descriptive statistics of diarrhea cases for all ages and ages 5 under 5, and observations and anomalies of weather variables in
 515 Taiwan from 2004 to 2015

	Mean	Min	P5	P25	P50	P75	P95	Max
Outpatient visits								
All Ageages								
All infectious diarrhea	10,029	364	726	2342.5	9207	14523	26365	38,631
Bacterial diarrhea	881	12	52	377.5	739	1160	2170	6,016
Viral diarrhea	180	0	3	27	90	276.5	638	1,245
Under five 5 years								
All infectious diarrhea	2,599	119	233	464.5	2398.5	3799.5	6613	10,613
Bacterial diarrhea	185	0	12	59	140.5	243	485	1,824
Viral diarrhea	53	0	0	9	30	76.5	181	354
Anomaly wWeather anomaly factors								
Average temperature (°C)	0.24	-2.6	-1.17	-0.25	0.23	0.73	1.69	4.08
Precipitation (mm)	0.33	-11.81	-6.07	-2.08	-0.36	1.57	10.05	25.73
Surface water storage (mm)	0.06	-2.27	-0.69	-0.19	-0.03	0.21	1.16	5.25
Weather factors								
Average temperature (°C)	23.24	12.61	15.69	19.66	23.87	27.23	28.92	30.40
Precipitation (mm)	178.24	0.00	9.30	46.32	110.74	248.58	582.28	1187.63
Surface water storage (mm)	1.11	0.16	0.34	0.52	0.84	1.40	2.69	4.25

516 *P5, P25, P50, P75, and P95 refer to percentile of the 5th, 25th, 50th, 75th, and 95th percentiles, respectively.

- 서식 있음 위 첨자아래 첨자없음
- 서식 있음 위 첨자아래 첨자없음
- 서식 있음 위 첨자아래 첨자없음
- 서식 있음 위 첨자아래 첨자없음
- 서식 있음 위 첨자아래 첨자없음
- 서식 있음 위 첨자아래 첨자없음

517

518 Table 2. Age- and cause-specific incidence rate ratios (95% confidence intervals) of diarrhea associated with anomalies (adjusted for
 519 each other) in Taiwan from 2004 to 2015
 520 Age and cause specific incident rate ratios (95% confidence interval) depicting association
between weather anomaly adjusting each others and diarrheal disease risk in Taiwan from 2004 to 2016

Variables	Lag month	All infectious diarrhea		Bacterial diarrhea		Viral diarrhea	
		All ages	Under 5 years	All ages	Under 5 years	All ages	Under 5 years
Annual event							
Chinese New Year		1.18 (1.11, 1.24)	1.13 (1.06, 1.20)	1.12 (0.99, 1.21)	1.01 (0.92, 1.12)	1.38 (1.11, 1.70)	1.33 (1.07, 1.65)
Weather anomaly							
Average temperature							
Lag 0		0.97 (0.96, 0.99)	0.97 (0.95, 0.98)	1.00 (0.98, 1.03)	1.00 (0.97, 1.03)	1.03 (0.97, 1.10)	1.03 (0.96, 1.09)
Lag 1		0.99 (0.97, 1.00)	1.00 (0.98, 1.02)	1.02 (0.99, 1.04)	1.04 (1.01, 1.07)	1.04 (0.97, 1.11)	1.05 (0.99, 1.12)
Lag 2		1.03 (1.01, 1.05)	1.03 (1.01, 1.07)	1.02 (0.99, 1.04)	1.04 (1.01, 1.07)	1.02 (0.96, 1.08)	1.02 (0.96, 1.09)
Precipitation							
Lag 0		1.00 (1.00, 1.00)	1.00 (1.00, 1.00)	1.00 (1.00, 1.01)	1.00 (1.00, 1.01)	0.99 (0.98, 1.00)	0.99 (0.97, 1.00)
Lag 1		1.00 (0.99, 1.00)	1.00 (0.99, 1.00)	1.00 (0.99, 1.00)	1.00 (1.00, 1.01)	0.98 (0.96, 0.99)	0.97 (0.96, 0.99)
Lag 2		1.00 (1.00, 1.00)	1.00 (1.00, 1.00)	1.00 (0.99, 1.00)	1.00 (0.99, 1.01)	0.99 (0.97, 1.00)	0.98 (0.97, 1.00)
Surface water storage							
Lag 0		0.99 (0.97, 1.02)	0.98 (0.95, 1.01)	1.08 (0.99, 1.12)	0.97 (0.93, 1.02)	1.08 (0.97, 1.21)	1.12 (1.00, 1.25)
Lag 1		0.98 (0.95, 1.01)	0.98 (0.95, 1.01)	1.04 (0.99, 1.09)	0.95 (0.90, 0.99)	1.15 (1.03, 1.28)	1.18 (1.06, 1.31)
Lag 2		1.00 (0.97, 1.02)	1.00 (0.97, 1.03)	1.08 (1.00, 1.09)	0.97 (0.92, 1.02)	1.22 (1.09, 1.36)	1.27 (1.14, 1.42)

521

522 Table 3. Age- and cause-specific incidence rate ratios (95% confidence intervals) of diarrhea associated with classifications of extreme
 523 weather conditions in Taiwan from 2004 to 2016~~Age-cause-specific incident rate ratios (95% confidence interval) of diarrhea~~
 524 ~~associated with classified extreme weather environment adjusting each others in Taiwan from 2004 to 2016~~

Characteristics	All infectious diarrhea		Bacterial diarrhea		Viral diarrhea	
	All ages	Under 5 years	All ages	Under 5 years	All ages	Under 5 years
Temperature						
Extremely cold	1.11 (1.03, 1.19)	1.15 (1.07, 1.24)	1.02 (0.92, 1.13)	1.02 (0.90, 1.15)	1.15 (0.88, 1.50)	1.31 (1.01, 1.70)
Cold	1.00 (0.97, 1.04)	1.04 (1.00, 1.08)	1.09 (1.01, 1.18)	1.06 (1.01, 1.13)	0.93 (0.81, 1.07)	0.97 (0.85, 1.11)
Normal*	1.00 - -	1.00 - -	1.00 - -	1.00 - -	1.00 - -	1.00 - -
Hot	1.03 (1.02, 1.13)	1.03 (1.02, 1.12)	1.00 (0.95, 1.06)	1.04 (0.97, 1.10)	1.10 (0.95, 1.27)	1.16 (0.99, 1.34)
Extremely hot	1.08 (1.04, 1.25)	1.18 (1.16, 1.40)	0.98 (0.87, 1.09)	0.98 (0.86, 1.13)	0.94 (0.70, 1.27)	1.11 (0.82, 1.49)
Precipitation						
Extremely d	1.02 (0.95, 1.10)	1.01 (0.94, 1.09)	1.09 (0.98, 1.21)	1.00 (0.88, 1.14)	1.03 (0.78, 1.36)	0.91 (0.69, 1.19)
Dry	1.03 (0.99, 1.07)	0.99 (0.95, 1.03)	1.05 (0.99, 1.11)	1.01 (0.94, 1.08)	1.03 (0.89, 1.19)	0.95 (0.82, 1.10)
Normal *	1.00 - -	1.00 - -	1.00 - -	1.00 - -	1.00 - -	1.00 - -
Wet	1.01 (0.97, 1.05)	0.97 (0.93, 1.01)	1.03 (0.97, 1.09)	0.97 (0.91, 1.04)	0.86 (0.74, 1.01)	0.82 (0.70, 0.95)
Extremely w	1.05 (0.97, 1.14)	1.04 (0.96, 1.13)	1.08 (0.96, 1.21)	1.08 (0.95, 1.24)	1.05 (0.78, 1.42)	0.84 (0.62, 1.13)
SWS						
Extremely dry	0.88 (0.81, 0.96)	0.87 (0.80, 0.94)	0.9 (0.80, 1.01)	0.91 (0.79, 1.04)	0.53 (0.39, 0.73)	0.57 (0.42, 0.77)
Drier	0.99 (0.95, 1.03)	1.00 (0.96, 1.04)	1.01 (0.96, 1.07)	1.02 (0.95, 1.09)	0.85 (0.73, 0.98)	0.83 (0.71, 0.96)
Normal*	1.00 - -	1.00 - -	1.00 - -	1.00 - -	1.00 - -	1.00 - -
Wetter	0.94 (0.90, 1.00)	0.92 (0.88, 1.00)	0.94 (0.88, 1.00)	0.93 (0.87, 1.00)	0.84 (0.72, 1.00)	0.92 (0.79, 1.07)
Extremely wet	0.97 (0.89, 1.04)	0.92 (0.85, 1.00)	0.98 (0.87, 1.10)	0.93 (0.81, 1.06)	0.85 (0.63, 1.15)	0.87 (0.65, 1.17)
Season						
Spring	1.21 (1.15, 1.28)	1.10 (1.04, 1.16)	1.12 (1.04, 1.21)	0.88 (0.81, 0.97)	1.75 (1.43, 2.15)	1.59 (1.30, 1.95)
<u>Mei-yu (East Asian rainy season)*</u>	1.00 - -	1.00 - -	1.00 - -	1.00 - -	1.00 - -	1.00 - -
Typhoon	1.02 (0.97, 1.07)	1.04 (0.99, 1.10)	1.07 (1.00, 1.15)	1.12 (1.03, 1.22)	0.92 (0.76, 1.11)	0.83 (0.69, 1.00)
Autumn	1.10 (1.05, 1.15)	1.14 (1.08, 1.19)	1.09 (1.02, 1.17)	1.08 (1.00, 1.17)	1.20 (1.01, 1.43)	1.06 (0.89, 1.26)

서식 있음. 글꼴 기울임꼴

525

Characteristics	All infectious diarrhea		Bacterial diarrhea		Viral diarrhea	
	All ages	Under 5 years	All ages	Under 5 years	All ages	Under 5 years
Winter	1.36 (1.29, 1.43)	1.21 (1.15, 1.27)	1.18 (1.10, 1.27)	0.89 (0.81, 0.97)	2.06 (1.70, 2.51)	1.61 (1.32, 1.95)

* Reference category

Epub ahead of print